IN THE UNITED STATES BANKRUPTCY COURT

WESTERN DISTRICT OF NORTH CAROLINA

SHELBY DIVISION

IN THE MATTER OF:
)


)


)

CASE NO. 

)

OUR FILE NO.


)


Debtor.
)

______________________________
)


)


)

ADV. PROC. NO.


)


Plaintiff,
)


)

vs.
)


)

SUNTRUST MORTGAGE, INC.,
)

ABC Servicing, Inc., and
)

XYZ Trust


)

Defendant.




)
TILA COMPLAINT
(TILA § 131 (f) and (g))
Introduction 
1.
This is an action for damages brought by the Debtor, who is a consumer, for Defendants’ violations of the Truth in Lending Act, 15 U.S.C. §§ 1601 et seq. ("TILA"). Specifically, Plaintiff seeks the remedies as provided in TILA for Defendant's failures to respond to requests for the identity of the owners and holders of Plaintiff's two mortgage loans, and failures to provide notices of either of two subsequent transfer transactions as to one of the mortgage loans, as required by 15 U. S.C. § 1641(f) and § 1641(g) respectively
.

Jurisdiction and Venue
2.
Jurisdiction is conferred on this Court pursuant to the provisions of Section 1334 of Title 28 of the United States Code in that this proceeding arises in and is related to the above-captioned Chapter 13 case under Title 11 and concerns property of the debtor in that case.

3.
Jurisdiction is further conferred on this Court by 15 U.S.C. § 1640(e) and 28 U.S.C. §§ 1331, 1337.

4.
This Court has both personal and subject matter jurisdiction to hear this case pursuant to Section 1334 of Title 28 of the United States Code, Section 157(b)(2) of Title 28 of the United States Code, and pursuant to the Order entered by the Judges of the United States District Court for the Western District of North Carolina on July 30, 1984 (the Referral Order), which Order was entered in accordance with the Bankruptcy Amendments and Federal Judgeship Act of 1984.

5.
This Court has supplemental jurisdiction to hear all state law claims, if any, pursuant to Section 1367 of Title 28 of the United States Code.

6.
The Plaintiff is informed and believes that this matter is primarily a core proceeding and therefore the Bankruptcy Court has jurisdiction to enter a final order.  However, in the event this case is determined to be a non-core proceeding then and in that event the Plaintiff consents to the entry of a final order by the Bankruptcy Judge.
                                                   Venue

7.
Venue lies in this District pursuant to Section 1391(b) of Title 28 of the United States Code.

Parties
8.
The Plaintiff in this case was and is a debtor under Chapter 13 of Title 11 of the United States Code in case number <CASE>, which case was filed on <DATE> and is presently pending before this Court.

9.
The Defendant, Suntrust Mortgage, Inc. (“Suntrust” or “Defendant”) is a corporation that originates, purchases, sells, and services residential mortgage loans. Defendant is headquartered in Richmond, Virginia and is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Suntrust Banks, Inc., a bank holding company.  Suntrust originated the mortgage loans that are the subject of this case.

*.
The Defendant, ____________ is a corporation that services residential mortgage loans. Upon information and belief ________ is the servicer of the mortgage loans which are the subject of this complaint.  Defendant __________ is a corporation organized and existing under the laws of the State of ___________, which a headquarters located at ________________.
*.
The Defendant, _________________ is the Trust which upon information and belief actually owns and holds the subject notes.

Facts

10.
On December 13, 2007 Defendant made two mortgage loans to Plaintiff for the purpose of acquiring a dwelling at <ADDRESS>, Shelby, North Carolina 28150 (the "Property"), referred to in this Complaint as the "First Mortgage Loan" and the "Second Mortgage Loan."
11.
In connection with the First Mortgage Loan the Plaintiff executed a promissory note (the "First Mortgage Note") in the original principal amount of $417,000 payable to the Suntrust.
12.
The First Mortgage Note was secured by a Deed of Trust on the Property dated <DATE> and recorded in the Cleveland County, North Carolina Office of the Register of Deeds in Deed Book <PAGE>, page <PAGE> (the "First Deed of Trust"), which named Jackie Miller as Trustee, the Defendant Suntrust as Lender, and Mortgage Electronic Registration Systems, Inc., a Delaware corporation ("MERS") as beneficiary of the Deed of Trust and as "nominee" for Defendant.

13.
In connection with the Second Mortgage Loan the Plaintiff executed a promissory note (the "Second Mortgage Note") in the original principal amount of $115,000 payable to Suntrust.
14.
The Second Mortgage Note was secured by the a subordinate-lien Deed of Trust on the Property dated <DATE> and recorded in the said Office of the Register of Deeds in Deed Book <PAGE>, page <PAGE> (the "Second Deed of Trust"). Like the First Deed of Trust, the Second Deed of Trust named Jackie Miller as Trustee, the Defendant as Lender, and MERS as beneficiary of the Deed of Trust and as "nominee" for Defendant.

15.
The First Mortgage Loan was made for the maximum amount acceptable for purchase by Fannie Mae. Upon information and belief, the reason Defendant offered home purchase financing divided into two loans was to allow Defendant to sell the First Mortgage Loan to Fannie Mae and to sell, or have available for sale, the Second Mortgage Loan such other investor as Defendant may choose, a practice that is typical in the mortgage industry.

16.
Both the First Mortgage Loan and Second Mortgage Loan are consumer credit transactions within the meaning of, and subject to, TILA.


17.

Both the First Mortgage Loan and the Second Mortgage Loan are "federally related mortgage loans" as defined in 12 U.S.C. § 2602(1).

COUNT 1 
Failure to provide the identity of the owner or master servicer
of the First Mortgage Note as required by TILA § 131(f) [15 U.S.C. § 1641(f)]
and failure to respond to a "qualified written request" regarding the First
Mortgage Loan § 6(e)(1)(B) of the Real Estate Settlement Procedures Act
("RESPA") [12 U.S.C. § 2605(e)(1)]

18.
The allegations of paragraphs 1 through 17 of this Complaint are hereby re-alleged and incorporated by reference.


19.
The debtor filed this case for relief under Title 11 of the United States Code on January 4, 2009.  

20.
At various times between January 20, 2009 and August 14, 2009 the attorney for the provided numerous notices to Suntrust that the Plaintiff was involved in an active Chapter 13 bankruptcy proceeding and as a result needed information about the current owner and holder of both of her mortgage notes.


21.
On or about July 30, 2009 Plaintiff mailed a letter to Defendant-Suntrust requesting the name of the owner of the First Mortgage Note and clearly alerting Defendant to the fact that his request was being made pursuant to TILA § 131(f). An unsigned copy of Plaintiff's request, the original of which Plaintiff signed and mailed, is attached hereto as Exhibit A along with Postal Form 3811, the certified receipt form, attached as Exhibit B.

22.
The law firm for Suntrust that filed a Notice of Appearance in this case and that filed Proofs of Claim on both mortgage notes received a letter from Plaintiff's counsel dated August 7, 2009 that among other topics clearly informed Defendant's counsel that Plaintiff had sent his July 30, 2009 letter to Defendant and that Plaintiff's letter invoked Plaintiff's rights under TILA § 131(f) and that Plaintiff had not received any response to his letter.


23.
Plaintiff's July 30, 2009 letter to Defendant is a "qualified written request" as defined in § 6(e)(1)(B) of the Real Estate Settlement Procedures Act ("RESPA") [12 U.S.C. § 2605(e)(1)(B)]. Thus Plaintiff's July 30, 2009 letter had the dual effect of invoking Plaintiff's rights under TILA § 131(f) as well Plaintiff's rights under RESPA § 6(e)(1).

24.
The Defendant did not respond within 20 days to Plaintiff's request for the name of the owner and holder of the First Mortgage Note as required by § 6(e)(1) of RESPA [12 U.S.C. § 2605(e)(1), and as recently as September 9, 2009 has never provided Plaintiff with a response, thus violating both 12 U.S.C. § 2605(e)(1) (RESPA) and 15 U.S.C. § 1641(f) (TILA) with respect to the First Mortgage Loan.

COUNT 2

Failure to provide the identity of the owner or master servicer
of the Second Mortgage Note as required by TILA §131(f) [15 U.S.C. §1641(f)] and
failure to respond to a "qualified written request" regarding the Second Mortgage
Loan § 6(e)(1)(B) of the Real Estate Settlement Procedures Act ("RESPA") [12
U.S.C. § 2605(e)(1)

25.
The allegations of paragraphs 1 through 24 of this Complaint are hereby re-alleged and incorporated by reference.

26.
On August 7, 2009 Plaintiff instructed his attorney to mail a letter
 to Defendant requesting the name of the owner and holder of the Second Mortgage Note and clearly alerting Defendant to the fact that his request was being made pursuant to TILA § 131(f). A copy of the request that Plaintiff directed to be made on his behalf, together with the certified mail receipt signed on behalf of Defendant upon receipt of that request is attached hereto as Exhibit C.

27.
The August 7, 2009 letter to Defendant is a "qualified written request" as defined in § 6(e)(1)(B) of RESPA [12 U.S.C. §2605(e)(1)(B)]. Thus the said August 7, 2009 letter had the dual effect of invoking Plaintiff's rights under TILA § 131(f) as well Plaintiff's rights under RESPA § 6(e)(1).


28.
The Defendant did not respond within 20 days to Plaintiff's request for the name of the owner of the Second Mortgage Note as required by § 6(e)(1) of RESPA [12 U.S.C. § 2605(e)(1), and as recently as September 9, 2009 has never provided Plaintiff with a response, thus violating both 12 U.S.C. § 2605(e)(1) (RESPA) and 15 U.S.C. § 1641(f) (TILA) with respect to the Second Mortgage Loan.

COUNT 3
Failure to notify Plaintiff of the Assignment of the First
Deed of Trust as required by TILA § 131(g) [15 U.S.C. § 1641(g)]

29.
The allegations of paragraphs 1 through 28 of this Complaint are hereby re-alleged and incorporated by reference.


30.
The First Mortgage Loan was a consumer credit transaction secured by the Plaintiff's principal dwelling within the meaning of TILA.


31.
Upon information and belief, on July 15, 2009 Mortgage Electronic Registration Systems, Inc. ("MERS") assigned all of its right, title, and interest in the First Deed of Trust to the Defendant-Suntrust. A copy of an Assignment believed to constitute at least part of the documentation of that transaction is attached hereto as Exhibit C.


32.
Defendant did not send Plaintiff any notice of the July 15, 2009 assignment of the First Deed of Trust from MERS to Defendant, thus violating TILA § 131(g) [15 U.S.C. § 1641(g)].

COUNT 4

Failure to notify Plaintiff of the Sale or Transfer of the First Mortgage
Note as required by TILA § 131(g) [15 U.S.C. § 1641(g)]


33.
The allegations of paragraphs 1 through 32 of this Complaint are hereby re-alleged and incorporated by reference.


34.
Plaintiff believes, and evidence expected to be available through further investigation and discovery is likely to show, that at some time after the origination of the First Mortgage Loan, the First Mortgage Note was sold by Defendant to Fannie Mae.


35.
Upon information and belief, at some time before July 11, 2009 Fannie Mae sold or otherwise transferred the First Mortgage Note to Defendant-Suntrust. A copy of a letter to Plaintiff’s attorney from Defendant's bankruptcy law firm dated July 10, 2009, identifying the Defendant as the holder of the First Mortgage Note is attached hereto as Exhibit E. A "Notice Required by the Fair Debt Collection Practices Act" believed to have accompanied that July 10, 2009 letter, identifying the Defendant as "the creditor to whom the debt is owed" as of July 10, 2009 is attached hereto as Exhibit F.


36.
Defendant did not send Plaintiff any notice of the sale or transfer of the First Mortgage Note from Fannie Mae to Defendant, thus violating TILA § 131(g) [15 U.S.C. § 1641(g)].


WHEREFORE, the Plaintiff having set forth his claims for relief against the Defendant respectfully prays of the Court as follows:


A.
For an Order of this Court awarding Plaintiff the relief provided by TILA as to each of the four separate violations of TILA set forth above, including statutory damages in the amount of $4,000.00 for each violation, actual damages if any be proven, reasonable attorney's fees, and costs expended in this proceeding.

B.
That the Plaintiff have such other and further relief as the Court may deem just and proper.

This

 day of 


, 2009.

O. Max Gardner III

Gardner & Gardner PLLC
Attorney for the Debtor/Plaintiff

NC State Bar #6164

P.O. Box 1000, Shelby, NC 28151-1000

(704) 487-0616 / FAX (704) 487-0619
e-mail maxgardner@maxgardner.com 

�  Recent amendments to these sections of TILA may not yet be reflected in some codification services.  Section 404 of the Helping Families Save Their Homes Act, Pub. L. 111-22, 123 Stat. 1632, enacted and effective May 20, 2009, amended TILA § 131(f) [15 U.S.C. § 1641(f)] to provide private remedies for failure to respond to borrowers' requests for information under that section, and added a new section 131(g) [15 U.S.C. § 1641(g)] relating to notices of sale, assignment, or other transfer of mortgage loans.  The Housing and Economic Recovery Act of 2008, Pub. L. 110-289, sec. 2502(b), 122 Stat. 2857, amended 15 U.S.C. § 1640a to change the amount of statutory damages for violations of the type alleged in this Complaint to a range of not less than $400 nor greater than $4,000.00.


� This letter and the letter of the same date referred to in paragraph 22 of this Complaint are two separate letters.
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